FILED IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE SEP 13 1995 CLERK, SUPREME GOURT Dy __ Chief Deputy Clerk

Qd 7

LAURIE G. JUSTICE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 86,264

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review Of Decision Of Florida Fifth District Court Of Appeal

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

TERRENCE E. KEHOE Law Offices of Terrence E. Kehoe Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/422-4147 407/849-6059 (FAX)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, Laurie G. Justice, will be referred to as "Ms. Justice." The Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal in this case consists of eight volumes. Volumes one through three contain pleadings, orders, and other documents filed in the trial court. Volumes four through seven contain transcripts of the trial. Volume eight contains a transcript of the sentencing proceeding. In this brief, the record on appeal will be referred to by the Roman numeral of the volume, followed by a slash, followed by the appropriate page number. An appendix containing the original opinion of the Fifth District, Ms. Justice's Motion for Rehearing, etc., and the <u>En Banc</u> Opinion of the Fifth District is attached hereto. It will be referred to as "App." followed by the appropriate page reference.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE OF THE FACTS

A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This case is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and sentence imposed upon Laurie G. Justice in the Circuit Court, Fifth Judicial Circuit, Lake County, Florida ("trial court").

On March 26, 1991, the state filed a criminal information charging Ms. Justice with four counts (I/1-2). Count One charged organized fraud, in violation of § 817.034(4)(a)3, Fla.Stat. Count Two charged Ms. Justice with grand theft of the third degree in violation of § 812.014(1) and (2)(c)1, Fla.Stat. Counts Three and Four charged Ms. Justice with forgery, in violation of § 831.01,

Fla.Stat. The Office of the Public Defender, Fifth Judicial Circuit, was appointed to represent Ms. Justice (I/39).

On September 24, 1991, the state filed an amended information adding Ms. Justice's husband, Thomas Richard Justice, as a defendant on the organized fraud count (I/81-82).

On December 11, 1991, Ms. Justice filed a motion to suppress evidence based on an illegal search and seizure (I/177-81, 187-200; II/217-18, 231-37). After a hearing, the trial court granted the motion to suppress (II/241-42). The state appealed that order (II/248-49), and the proceedings were stayed pending resolution of that appeal (II/256-57). On September 28, 1993, the Fifth District entered an opinion reversing the trial court's suppression order. <u>State v. Justice</u>, 624 So.2d 402 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

On December 22, 1993, the state again amended the information, this time dropping Thomas Justice as a defendant, and dropping the grand theft charge (II/327-28).

On January 5, 1994, the state filed another amended information, this time dropping the organized fraud count (II/351-52). It was this information, charging two counts of forgery, upon which Ms. Justice went to trial.

A trial was held on January 10, 11, and 13, 1994. The state presented testimony from four witnesses, and the defense presented testimony from nine witnesses, including Ms. Justice. Three exhibits were entered on behalf of the state, and two on behalf of the defense. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to both

counts (II/393-94; VIII/691). A post-trial motion for new trial (II/400-01) was denied (VIII/697).

On February 14, 1994, the trial court adjudicated Ms. Justice, a first-time offender, guilty of both counts (III/498-500; VIII/713). She was placed on a period of three years of supervised probation, ordered to pay costs totaling \$750.00, and ordered not to maintain a checking account as a special condition of probation (III/502-05; VIII/713). A written judgment and cost order was entered that date (III/498-500).

A timely notice of appeal was filed on February 28, 1994 (III/506). Later that same date a written order setting forth conditions of probation was filed (III/502-05). It contained special conditions not orally announced at sentencing. Two motions to stay the probation order pending appeal (III/514-15, 524-25) were denied by the trial court (III/517, 526). The Fifth District subsequently denied a motion to stay the probation during the pendency of the appeal, and Ms. Justice is presently complying with the written order of probation.

A timely notice of appeal (III/506) and amended notice of appeal (III/527) were filed. The Fifth District affirmed Ms. Justice's convictions, and reversed her sentence and remanded for resentencing (<u>see</u> Part C <u>infra</u>, pp. 8-9). Ms. Justice filed her notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on August 3, 1995.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)4, Fla.Const., and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

B. FACTS

1. GOD'S LOVE CENTER

God's Love Center was founded in May 1986 by Laurie Justice (V/397). It initially operated out of the Justice home (V/397). Its mission was to help the needy people of Lake County by providing emergency aid, called "outreach" (V/398). This aid consisted of food and clothing primarily (VI/402), but also could entail other aid such as financial aid (V/299). One example is the Thanksgiving community dinner the center held (VI/558, 579). The center was founded with the philosophy of providing quick aid without bureaucratic red tape which prevented people from getting quick assistance from governmental agencies (VI/572). One Lake County attorney, Jefferson Ray, testified that God's Love Center was a "tremendous ministry" for helping the poor (VI/542).

In the beginning, there were three members of the Board of Directors: Laurie Justice, her husband Tom Justice, and Andrew Ward (V/397-98). However, Laurie Justice ran virtually the entire operation (V/397).

In December, 1986 God's Love Center moved to Tavares (V/399). In January, 1988 the center purchased a lease option on an old church in Eustis (VI/403). The Justices personally paid the \$2,400.00 required to obtain that lease option (VI/408).

In 1988 Janice Reynolds joined God's Love Center as a secretary, and eventually a board member. She became Laurie Justice's right arm (V/320). Between the two of them, they handled most of the day to day requests for aid. They were given freedom

to make judgment calls (V/314). The bylaws specified that any expenditure over \$65.00 must be approved by either the director or the board (V /297). Laurie Justice was the director (VI/566). She had virtual autonomy in making emergency financial decisions (VI/573).

As far as aid or outreach was concerned, staffers could be eligible for aid if a need existed. In fact, aid was common to the staff (V/330). Janice Reynolds testified that her family received aid (V/329). Various members of the Board of Directors agreed that electricity being turned off could be an emergency that would justify aid (V/331-32, 360).

2. JUSTICE FAMILY FINANCIAL STATUS

Laurie and Tom Justice have two teen-age daughters (VI/517). Tom Justice has worked as a number of years at Sta-Con, Inc. in Apopka (VI/405). During the time periods relevant to this case (1986-1990), Laurie Justice did not work at a salaried job. In the period 1986-1990, Laurie Justice estimated that she and her husband put more than \$10,000.00 into God's Love Center, and had been reimbursed \$4,000.00 (VI/503).

In late 1988 Laurie Justice inherited \$60,000.00 (VI/446). That money was used to pay off debts, to secure the option on their home, to buy cars, computers, and clothing (VI/499). Three thousand dollars was loaned to God's Love Center (VI/516). Some more money was given away. By August 1989 the entire inheritance had been depleted (VI/521).

In 1989, Tom Justice was in bad health for large portion of the year due in part to a hernia problem (VI/493). He spent some time in the hospital, and was not working (VI/493). He went back to work in November, 1989 (VI/424). When he was working, he brought home approximately \$1,400.00 to \$1,500.00 per month (VI/494).

Because of financial problems, the Justice family obtained outreach at various times (V/331; VI/431, 481-92, 509-17).

3. TWO CHECKS

During the relevant time period (1990) of this case, there were four signatories on the God's Love Center checking account: Tom Justice, Laurie Justice, Janice Reynolds, and Andrew Ward (V/319, VI/405). The checks all required at least two signatures (VI/405). Often, Tom Justice would sign checks in blank because he was seldom at the center (V/333). Janice Reynolds would also often sign checks in blank (V/333).

God's Love Center check number 1644 was made out to the City of Mount Dora in the amount of \$97.72 (II/364). It bore the date of January 10, 1990. One of the two signatures was that of Laurie Justice (VI/427-28). Laurie Justice had signed Janice Reynolds' name as the second signature (VI/428).

God's Love Center check number 1699 was issued to the City of Mount Dora in the amount of \$151.46 (II/366). It bore the date of February 14, 1990. One of the signatures was that of Laurie Justice (VI/461). Laurie Justice admitted to signing Janice Reynolds' name for the second signature (VI/462).

As to the February check, Ms. Justice explained that on that date she came home and her power was shut off (VI/425). The money had to be paid by 5:00 p.m. in order to have the electricity turned back on (VI/425). Due to recent health and marital problems concerning her husband, she could not wait to the next day to have the electricity turned on. She attempted to find Janice Reynolds to obtain her signature (VI/426-27). When she could not, she signed Janice Reynolds' name (VI/428). She considered it emergency outreach (VI/476, 529).

As to the January check, Ms. Justice did not recall the specifics (VI/432). Because of the notation of the bottom of the check, she believed it was used to replace a bounced check to pay the utilities (VI/432).

Ms. Justice testified that under the circumstances, she believed it was okay to sign Janice Reynolds' name and that she had done nothing wrong (VI/475). She believed that Janice Reynolds would have signed it had Janice Reynolds been available (VI/475). She believed that she had the implied authority to sign Janice Reynolds' name based on her relationship with God's Love Center and with Ms. Reynolds (VI/526). On February 16, 1990 Laurie Justice repaid God's Love Center with \$400.00 for reimbursement of the two utility checks (V/375, 381).

Janice Reynolds testified that those were not her signatures on either check number 1699 (V/321-22) or check number 1644 (V/325-26). She did not recall providing Ms. Justice with authorization (V/326). She testified that if Ms. Justice had been able to

contact her, she would have signed the check or told the city to honor the check with only one signature (V/336).

Charles McArthur, a Lake County Pastor who was on the Board of God's Love Center for nine months, during which time he was chairman of the finance committee (V/293), testified that the board never authorized either of these two checks (V/300). He further testified that the Justice situation would have warranted help (V/313).

The state presented testimony from an employee of the City of Mount Dora utilities to show that no record existed of any shut-off order (V/350) and no record existed to show that any reconnect fee had been charged for turning the utility back on (VI/631-32).

C. FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISIONS

On appeal, Ms. Justice raised four issues: 1) the denial of her "theory of the defense" instruction on authority to sign the checks, 2) the denial of Ms. Justice's request to speak with her attorney while the jury was not in the courtroom, and the denial of her attorney's request for a recess; 3) the increased sentence due to Ms. Justice's refusal to waive her appellate rights; and 4) the inclusion of special conditions of probation which were not orally announced at sentencing.

On March 3, 1995, the Fifth District issued a <u>per curiam</u> opinion, with a special concurrence and a dissent (App. A). The majority ruled that Ms. Justice's claims of error concerning her judgment of conviction and length of sentence were rejected as lacking merit (App. A, p. 1). It remanded the sentence for

resolution of the discrepancy between the record of the oral pronouncement and the written order (App. A, pp. 1-2). In his special concurrence, Chief Judge Harris set forth his rationale for why the Fifth District handled such sentencing "discrepancy" cases differently from the other district courts of appeal (App. A, pp. 3-5). In dissent, Judge Griffin also noted the conflict with the First, Second, and Fourth Districts. She would follow the other districts and require the striking of unannounced special conditions of probation, rather than permitting them to be reimposed at resentencing (App. A, pp. 6-8).

Ms. Justice filed a motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc or certification to the Florida Supreme Court (App. B). On July 21, 1995, the Fifth District issued an <u>en banc</u> opinion (App. C). The majority opinion, authored by Judge Harris, again recognized conflict with other district courts of appeal (App. C, p. 2). It permitted the trial court, at resentencing, to impose any special conditions of probation, whether imposed at the initial sentencing or not. It certified the following question to this Court:

> WHERE A SENTENCE IS REVERSED BECAUSE THE TRIAL FAILED TO ORALLY PRONOUNCE COURT CERTAIN SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF PROBATIONS WHICH LATER APPEARED IN THE WRITTEN SENTENCE, MUST THE COURT SIMPLY STRIKE UNANNOUNCED THE CONDITIONS, OR MAY \mathbf{THE} COURT ELECT то "REIMPOSE" THOSE CONDITIONS AT RESENTENCING? (App. C, p. 6).

The lone dissenter, Judge Griffin, reiterated her belief that the unannounced special conditions of probation must be stricken, and cannot be reimposed at resentencing (App. C, pp. 7-12).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I.

NON-STANDARD CONDITIONS OF PROBATION WHICH WERE NOT ORALLY PRONOUNCED MUST BE STRICKEN

The February 28, 1994, written order imposing conditions of probation sets forth a number of conditions which were not orally pronounced at the sentencing on February 14, 1994. All nonstandard conditions of probation which were not orally pronounced must be stricken.

II.

DENIAL OF PROPOSED DEFENSE INSTRUCTION ON AUTHORITY TO SIGN CHECKS DENIED MS. JUSTICE A FAIR TRIAL

Ms. Justice was denied her fundamental rights to due process and a fair trial due to the trial court's denial of her proposed jury instruction on the defense of authority.

ARGUMENTS

I.

NON-STANDARD CONDITIONS OF PROBATION WHICH WERE NOT ORALLY PRONOUNCED MUST BE STRICKEN

On February 14, 1994, Ms. Justice was sentenced in this case. At that time, the trial court orally imposed a sentence of three years of supervised probation. The trial court also orally set forth conditions of the probation. Those were payment of certain costs and not having a checking account (VIII/713). There is no discrepancy as to what the trial court orally pronounced. Neither side has contested the correctness of the transcript on this point.

Subsequently, the trial court filed a written order placing Ms. Justice on probation on February 28, 1994¹ (III/502-05).

There are obvious differences between the oral sentence imposed on Ms. Justice by the trial court on February 14 and the conditions set forth in the written probation order of February 28. In situations where the oral pronouncement differs from the written order, the oral pronouncement governs. Johnson v. State, 627 So.2d 114 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Lester v. State, 563 So.2d 178, 179 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Any written conditions which conflict with the oral pronouncements, or which were not orally announced, must be stricken. <u>Cumbie v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 946, 947 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Tillman v. State, 592 So.2d 767, 768 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

Additionally, it was error to add conditions in the subsequent written order. <u>Skiff v. State</u>, 627 So.2d 614 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). First, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to amend or modify the sentence after the notice of appeal was filed. <u>Gorman v. State</u>, 636 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). More importantly, it was illegal for the trial court to enter a written order imposing numerous additional special conditions of probation two weeks after the sentencing hearing. <u>See Lippman v. State</u>, 633 So.2d 1061, 1064 (Fla. 1994); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 109, 110-11 (Fla. 1991). If the trial court wanted to impose the special conditions of

¹ In its body, the written order does not specify whether Ms. Justice was adjudicated guilty or not. Since it is clear that the trial court did adjudicate Ms. Justice guilty, this written order must be corrected to properly reflect the trial court's judgment.

probation, it was under a legal duty to do on February 14, 1994, in the presence of Ms. Justice, her counsel, and the prosecutor.

Once a defendant has begun serving a sentence, a trial court cannot increase the punishment. <u>Troupe v. Rowe</u>, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973); <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 237, 238 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Bickowski v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 470 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); <u>Tessier v. Moe</u>, 485 So.2d 46 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). In Ms. Justice's case, she had begun serving the probation and had begun complying with the standard and special conditions set forth on February 14. The addition of numerous new special conditions two weeks later certainly increased Ms. Justice's sentence, as each of these conditions imposed some restriction on her liberty.

One of the procedures discussed by the <u>en banc</u> majority in <u>Justice</u> is that of calling the defendant back for a second sentencing hearing in the presence of counsel where the trial court wishes to announce additional special conditions of probation. It should be noted, of course, that did not happen in Ms. Justice's case. There was never any attempt to set a second sentencing hearing. Instead, the additional, special conditions of probation were simply added in the written order. Neither counsel nor Ms. Justice were notified of the special conditions until the trial court entered its written order on February 28, 1994.

Secondly, and most importantly, the calling back of a defendant for a second sentencing hearing, and the addition of more conditions of probation, would clearly violate the dictates of <u>Lippman</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Clark</u>, <u>supra</u>; and <u>Troupe</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>See also</u>, <u>Zepeda</u>

<u>v. State</u>, ______ So.2d _____ (Fla. 5th DCA 8/11/95)[20 Fla. L. Weekly D1829, D1830]; <u>C. M. v. State</u>, ______ So.2d ____ (Fla. 2d DCA 8/9/95)[20 Fla. L. Weekly D1811]; <u>Johnson v. State</u>, _____ So.2d ____ (Fla. 3d DCA 7/26/95)[20 Fla. L. Weekly D1702].

The en banc majority in Justice seems to believe that there was no "sentence" until the entry of a written order some two weeks after the sentencing hearing (App. C, pp. 3-4). However, a sentence is the pronouncement of the court, Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.700(a), and begins as soon as the sentencing hearing is completed. Troupe, supra. Surely the state does not contend that if Ms. Justice had been arrested for a new offense in the two weeks between the sentencing and the filing of the written order, that she would not be subject to a violation of probation. Ms. Justice began serving her sentence when she walked out of the courtroom on February 14, 1994. Under well-established state and federal double jeopardy and due process principles, that sentence could not thereafter be increased except for limited circumstances such a violation of probation. Troupe, Clark, and Lippman, all prevent the trial court and the state from a second "bite of the apple" at a second sentencing, or a resentencing, contrary to the contentions of the en banc majority.

In a probation setting, the courts have carved an exception to the general rule of notice. Because the standard conditions of probation are set forth in Florida Statutes, § 948.03, § 948.031, § 948.032, and § 948.034, the courts have held that a probationer is placed on notice as to the standard conditions set forth in

those statutes. Therefore, no oral pronouncement need be made of standard conditions. <u>Gaal v. State</u>, 599 So.2d 723, 724-725 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); <u>Cumbie</u>. However, any special conditions, not set forth in the statutes, must be explicitly pronounced at sentencing or they are invalid. <u>Dycus v. State</u>, 629 So.2d 275 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Various of the conditions set forth in Ms. Justice's written order fail to comply these rules, and therefore must be stricken. <u>See e.g., Gomez-Rodriqueq v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 709 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 620 So.2d 1120, 1121-22 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). <u>See also Dycus</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Olvey v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Cumbie</u>, <u>supra</u>.

A. POSSESSION OF WEAPONS AND FIREARMS:

Paragraph four of the February 28 order states: "You will neither possess, carry or own any weapons or firearms." This is not a statutorily authorized condition and the trial court did not pronounce orally at the sentencing hearing. As a convicted felon, Ms. Justice may not possess any firearm. However, there is no such proscription against possession of weapons other than firearms. Therefore, applying the rationale of <u>Quinonez v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 173 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), this condition must be stricken. Second, as this could include virtually anything other than a common pocketknife, the condition is over-broad. Third, as there is no indication that violence was involved, this condition bears no relationship to the facts of the case and must be stricken.

B. USE OF INTOXICANTS:

Paragraph six of the February 28 order states, in part, that: "You will not use intoxicants to excess; nor will you visit places where intoxicants, drugs, or other dangerous substances are unlawfully sold, dispensed or used." This condition is not statutorily authorized and the trial court did not pronounce it orally at the sentencing hearing. Therefore, this condition must be stricken. <u>See e.g.; Quinonez, supra; Gregory v. State</u>, 616 So.2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

C. EMPLOYMENT:

Paragraph seven of the February 28 order requires Ms. Justice to work at a lawful occupation, and notify her employer of her probation status. Paragraph three of that order requires that she not change her employment without the consent of the probation The standard condition set forth in § 948.03(1)(c) officer. requires a defendant to work faithfully at suitable employment insofar as may be possible. A mandatory employment requirement is improper. <u>Walls v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 811, 812 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). For the same reason, the requirement that Ms. Justice not change her employment without the consent of the probation officer is also A change in employment is not always voluntary. improper. Instead, the trial court should have ordered Ms. Justice to maintain or actively seek lawful employment. There should not be any requirement that Ms. Justice notify her employer of her probation. This condition must be modified on remand.

D. INQUIRIES/VISITS BY PROBATION OFFICER

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