IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAURIE G. JUSTICE,

Petitioner,

۷.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

CASE NO. 86,264

FILED SIDJ WHITE OCT 5 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FIFTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #618550 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT 1: This court should adopt Judge Harris' district court opinion in the instant case and allow for reimposition of the contested conditions of probation on remand. A sentencing judge's oversight in failing to mention a special condition or failure to announce conditions he assumes to be "general" should not create a "gotcha" situation in which the trial court is precluded from imposing conditions it deems necessary. This court's prior decisions do not preclude the imposition of special conditions not orally pronounced, nor does the rule that oral pronouncements prevail over written orders.

POINT 2: The jury was properly instructed, since pursuant to the standard instructions the jury would not have been able to find Justice guilty if it found she had authority to sign another person's name on the checks. Error, if any, is harmless. Justice did not present evidence to support the authority defense so the trial court was correct in not instructing the jury on it.

POINT 1

ON REMAND, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO REIMPOSE SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF JUSTICE'S PROBATION CONTAINED IN ITS WRITTEN PROBATION ORDER BUT NOT ORALLY PRONOUNCED DURING THE SENTENCING HEARING.

Justice contends that the non-standard conditions of probation which were not orally announced at sentencing must be stricken because the oral pronouncement conflicts with the written order, and it was error to add conditions in the subsequent written order. The record in the instant case contains an order placing Justice on probation, which lists the standard and special conditions of probation (R 502-05). The order states that this was done and ordered on February 14, 1994, and is signed by the trial judge (R 502). That order, entitled "judgment of guilt", contains the following language:

> It is further ordered that when you have reported to the probation officer and have been instructed as to the conditions of probation you shall be released from custody if you are in custody and if you are at liberty on bond, the sureties thereon shall stand discharged from liability.

(R 502). The order further states:

It is further ordered that the Clerk of this Court file this order in his office, record the same in the Minutes of the Court, and forthwith provide certified copies of same to the Probation Officer for his use in compliance with the requirements of law.

(R 502). At the bottom of this form it states:

I acknowledge receipt of a certified copy of this order and that the conditions have been explained to me.

(R 502). Justice did not sign this acknowledgement. Following that order are three pages listing conditions of probation, and the second and third pages contain the special conditions that were orally announced at the hearing (R 503-05). The order was filed on February 28, 1994, the same day that the notice of appeal was filed (R 502, 506).

A statement of judicial acts to be reviewed was filed March 9, 1994, and mentions nothing about the now contested conditions of probation (R 518-19). On March 11, 1994, Justice filed an amended motion to stay order of probation pending appeal, wherein she stated that she would have to submit to drug testing twice a week to obtain a travel permit, and the interference of probationary requirements would more than likely cause her difficulty in getting a job (R 525). An amended statement of judicial acts to be reviewed was filed on March 22, 1994, and again there was no mention of the now contested conditions of probation (R 532-33).

Respondent first contends that the record does not indicate for a fact that the conditions were added after the sentencing hearing and at the time the order was filed. In fact, it would appear that any delay in the filing of the order would have been due to the clerk of the court, which was directed to file the order. Based on the documents filed in the trial court concerning the appeal of the judgment and sentence, it would appear that Justice was aware of the conditions of probation, and at no time prior to the filing of her initial brief contested them. Thus, respondent contends that the only issue before this court is that contained in the certified question, specifically, whether the failure to orally

announce special conditions of probation should result in their being stricken or, as the district court found, whether the trial court can reimpose the conditions on remand.

Justice first contends that any of the written conditions that conflict with the oral pronouncements must be stricken. The general rule that oral prevails over written was based upon the rationale that the written sentence is merely a record of the actual sentence pronounced in open court, and as even the cases cited by Justice recognize, was intended to rectify uncontested inconsistencies between the actual sentence imposed and the later memorialization thereof in the written order. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 627 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (state conceded written sentence incorrectly reflected amount of credit for time served). Compare, Lester v. State, 563 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (absent concession by state, conflict between written order and oral pronouncement requires factual resolution by trial court). This simplistic rule designed for correction of uncontested errors should not be expanded to permit the defendant to "successfully run the gauntlet at oral sentencing" and enjoy "immunity from corrective In the instant case, there is no guestion that the sentence action". Justice, supra. imposed orally and subsequently by written order was three years of probation. Assuming that the purpose of probation is the rehabilitation of the probationer, it would seem odd to delete conditions that may be of value in that effort in blind obedience to the rule that "oral prevails over written".

Justice next contends that it was illegal to impose additional conditions two weeks after the sentencing hearing. As the district court majority reasoned, there is no reason why the oral pronouncement cannot be timely corrected by calling the defendant back into

court to correct the previously announced sentence before the judgment is made final by the rendition of a final order. Because the sentence is not final until reduced to writing and filed with the clerk, remanding the case to allow the trial court to orally announce the special conditions and to give the defendant an opportunity to object does not constitute an enhancement of an existing final order of probation under this court's decisions in *Lippman v. State*, 633 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1994) and *Clark v. State*, 579 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1991). *Justice v. State*, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D 1697 (Fla. 5th DCA July 21, 1995). Both *Lippman* and *Clark* refer to "previously entered orders of probation or community control". The order in question was not "entered" or "rendered" until it was filed by the clerk, so the terms of Justice's probation were not enhanced after rendition.

Respondent contends that this is becomes even more significant when reviewing the language of the order placing Justice on probation. As stated, it would appear from the record that all of the documents were prepared at the same time. In fact, the special conditions announced at sentencing are contained in the same documents as the unannounced conditions. Further, the order that was signed in open court indicates that the probation officer would instruct on the conditions of probation, at which point Justice would be released from custody or bail. Thus, it would appear that none of the conditions were enforceable until Justice reported to the probation officer and was instructed on all of the conditions imposed by the trial court, and officially on probation as opposed to in custody or on bond. As stated, although there was mention of at least one of the conditions in a later filed document, there was never any objection to any of the conditions until the initial brief on direct appeal. Respondent would point out that if only

the order signed in open court on the 14th were enforceable, without reference to the three additional pages listing conditions, then there would be no conditions of probation at all. As this court noted in *Harris v. State*, 645 So. 2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1994), "[t]he Constitution does not require that sentencing should be a game in which one wrong move by the judge means immunity for the prisoner."

Respondent would further point out that in *Hart v. State*, 651 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), *review pending*, Case No. 85,168, the court noted that perhaps the probation order contained in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.986 provides sufficient notice to make oral pronouncement unnecessary, and certified a question on this issue to this court. Of the eight contested conditions, five are contained in essentially the same language in that form (possession of weapons, use of intoxicants, employment, inquiries/visits by probation officer, and consumption of alcohol). Thus, even if this court determines that unannounced special conditions must be stricken with no chance for reimposition, this court's answer to the certified question in *Hart* could well resolve the issue of notice as to at least five of the contested conditions.

Respondent urges this court to adopt the logic of Judge Harris' district court opinion in the instant case and allow for reimposition of the contested conditions of probation on remand. A sentencing judge's oversight in failing to mention a special condition (or as the *Hart, supra,* court noted, failure to announce conditions he assumes to be "general"), should not create a "gotcha" situation in which the trial court is precluded from imposing conditions it deems necessary. This court's decisions in *Lippman* and *Clark* do not dictate such result, nor does the rule that oral pronouncements

prevail over written orders.

POINT 2

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED; ERROR, IF ANY, IS HARMLESS.

Justice claims that the trial court erred in not giving her requested instruction on the defense of authority. This same issue was decided adversely to Justice's claim in *Perkins v. State*, 463 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In *Perkins*, as in the instant case, the defendant requested the trial court to instruct the jury the if it found the defendant had authority to sign another person's name, it should find the defendant not guilty. The district court found that the trial court's instructions to the jury, that in order to convict the defendant it would have to find that the defendant knew the check was false or forged and intended to defraud some person or firm, covered the proposed defense, since these elements of the offense negated any defense of authority. *Id.* at 482. The court further found that the proposed instruction required a comment on the evidence. *Id.* at 483.

Likewise, in the instant case, the jury was instructed that in order to find Justice guilty, it would have to find that she falsely made the checks and intended to defraud some person or firm (R 678-79). As in *Perkins*, the instruction on these elements negated any defense of authority, i.e., if the jury believed Justice had authority to write the check, it could not find the state had proven a crime. *See, Perkins* at 482. For the same reason, respondent asserts that error, if any, in failing to give the proposed instruction was harmless, since the verdict could not have been affected. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). As stated, the jury's finding that Justice falsely made the checks and intended to defraud some person or firm negates any defense of authority. The defense argued the authority defense to the jury, so the jury was well

aware of the fact that if Justice had authority it would negate the essential elements of the crime. Thus, even if the trial court erred in not giving the requested instruction, it does not amount to reversible error. *DiGuilio, supra.*

Respondent further asserts that the instruction was properly denied since there was no evidence to support such defense. None of the record cites referred to by Justice contain evidence that she had authority to sign Janice Reynolds' name on the check. On page 333, there was testimony that other authorized signatories on the account would leave signed blank checks for Justice to utilize, but this does not amount to evidence that Justice had authority to sign their names on the checks. On page 446, Justice testified that she believed Reynolds would have signed the check, and that if the situation had been the same, Reynolds could have signed Justice's name, but again, this is not evidence that Justice had authority to sign Reynolds' name. On page 475, Justice testified that she thought it would be "okay" to sign Reynolds name, and that she did not see anything wrong with it under the circumstances. This is simply a self serving statement of a subjective belief that under the circumstances. Justice could sign Reynolds name because she found herself in a dire emergency, and is not evidence of authority (R 475-77). On page 526, Justice was asked if she believed she had implied authority to sign Reynolds' name on the check, and she replied that she "did believe it was okay". Again, this is not evidence of authority, but rather a subjective belief that it would be "okay" to sign Reynolds name under the circumstances. There is a clear distinction between the fact that Justice may well have received the assistance if she had followed proper procedures, and the fact that she, on two occasions, ignored those procedures

and signed somebody else's name without ever notifying anyone that she had done so. The testimony on page 566 simply demonstrates that Justice had authority to make disbursements from the account in amounts less than \$65.00; it does not show that she had authority to sign another person's name on the check in making that disbursement. Respondent would also point out that both checks in the instant case exceed this \$65.00 limit. The testimony on page 573 simply demonstrates that the board forgave Justice. Since there was no evidence that Justice had authority to sign Reynolds' name on the two checks at issue, the instruction on such defense was properly denied.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, respondent requests this court

affirm the judgment of the trial court and remand to the trial court for resolution of any

discrepancy between the oral and written conditions of probation.